
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. __________________

ELIZABETH GUERRERO,

Plaintiff,

v.

JEFFERSON COUNTY, COLORADO HOUSING AUTHORITY, 
MAGGIE LOGAN, and 
BETTY KRIEGER,

Defendants.
                                                                                                                                                      

 COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                      

Plaintiff, Elizabeth Guerrero, by and through their attorneys, Kevin W. Williams and

Carrie Ann Lucas of the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition Legal Program, hereby submit this

Complaint for violations of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq., and Section 504 of

the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.

INTRODUCTION

1. The federal Fair Housing Act (“FHA”), 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq. was amended in

1988 to include prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of disability.1

1 The Fair Housing Act still uses the word “handicap,” a term that is now viewed
with disfavor among many disability rights advocates.  For purposes of this complaint, the word
“disability” is used to mean “handicap” as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 3602(h).  Where either word is
used, the word is intended to have the same definition.
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2. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504 ”), 29 U.S.C. § 794 et

seq., prohibits discrimination against individuals with disabilities by recipients of federal

financial assistance.

3. Under the Fair Housing Act, it is unlawful  “[t]o refus[e] to make reasonable

accommodations in rules, policies, practices, or services, when such accommodations may be

necessary to afford such person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling.”  42 U.S.C. §

3604(f)(3)(B).  Section 504 also requires making reasonable accommodations for individuals

with disabilities.

4. As set forth in this Complaint, Jefferson County Housing Authority (“JCHA”),

Maggie Logan, and Betty Krieger violated the Fair Housing Act by refusing to provide Elizabeth

Guerrero, an individual with cognitive disabilities a reasonable accommodation.   Defendants

terminated Ms. Guerrero’s housing assistance voucher.  Once informed of Ms. Guerrero’s need

for additional time to submit paperwork for Ms. Guerrero’s Section 8 housing voucher,

Defendants refused to allow Ms. Guerrero the additional time and failed to respond to Ms.

Guerrero’s request.

5. Plaintiff seeks a declaration from this Court that Defendants’ actions violated Ms.

Guerrero’s civil rights, an injunction compelling JCHA to reinstate Ms. Guerrero’s housing

assistance voucher, monetary damages and recovery of their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

JURISDICTION

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343.
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7. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES

8. On information and belief, Plaintiff Elizabeth Guerrero has cerebral palsy,

epilepsy, developmental disabilities and seizures, all of which substantially limit major life

activities.  Ms. Guerrero is and was at all times material hereto a Colorado resident.  Ms.

Guerrero resides at 3650 Vance Street, # 209, Wheat Ridge, Colorado 80033.

9. JCHA is a housing authority, organized pursuant to Colorado’s Housing

Authorities Law, Colo. Rev. Stat. § 29-4-201 et seq.  JCHA is a corporation and political

subdivision of Jefferson County, Colorado.  JCHA’s principal place of business is located at

7490 West 45th Avenue, Wheat Ridge, Colorado 80333. JCHA receives federal financial

assistance within the meaning of Section 504 through, inter alia, receiving housing assistance

under Section 8.  42 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.

10. Maggie Logan is a Housing Specialist with JCHA.  Ms. Logan was assigned to

Elizabeth Guerrero’s case.  On information and belief, Ms. Logan was a resident of the state of

Colorado at all times material to the facts alleged in this complaint.

11. Betty Krieger is the Housing Director of JCHA.   On information and belief, Ms.

Krieger was a resident of the state of Colorado at all times material to the facts alleged in this

Complaint.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

12. Plaintiff Guerrero has received Section 8 housing assistance for over twenty

years.
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13. In August of 2008, Ms. Guerrero moved into the apartment in which she currently

resides at Morning Side Retirement Community (“Morning Side”), 3650 Vance Street, # 209,

Wheat Ridge, Colorado 80033.

14. Ms. Guerrero had a Section 8 voucher administered by the Denver Housing

Authority that was ported to JCHA when she moved to Morning Side.

15. Each year, housing authorities like JCHA require Section 8 housing assistance

recipients to provide information and paperwork to the housing authority to re-certify eligibility

for housing assistance.

16. Prior to this year, 2009, Ms. Guerrero’s mother and power of attorney, Isabelle 

Shaneff, who is 86 years old, always assisted Ms. Guerrero with her mail, paperwork and

specifically with her Section 8 re-certification papers.

17. This year, Ms. Guerrero’s mother became ill and was unable to assist with Ms.

Guerrero’s re-certification paperwork.

18. On information and belief, Defendants sent Ms. Guerrero a letter in May or June

of 2009 (or both) requesting that Ms. Guerrero submit documentation necessary for her re-

certification.  

19. Because of Ms. Guerrero’s disability, she was unable to understand her

obligations with respect to the letter or letters.

20. On information and belief, on or about June 23, 2009, Defendants sent Ms.

Guerrero a letter informing her that her Section 8 housing assistance would be terminated

effective August 1, 2009 unless she responded in writing no later than July 2, 2009.
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21. In or about May or June of 2009, Ms. Guerrero went to the JCHA offices to

request assistance with responding to the letters she received from JCHA.  She asked to speak

with Maggie Logan.

22. Ms. Guerrero was informed that Maggie Logan was not available and that no one

could assist her.  Ms. Guerrero left without assistance or filling out the forms.

23. On or about June 26, 2009, Ms. Guerrero went back to JCHA offices and met

with Maggie Logan.  During the meeting, Ms. Guerrero did not understand what Maggie Logan

told her and called her mother, Isabelle Shaneff, to ask for assistance.  Ms. Guerrero’s sister,

Vera Estrada, who lives in Pueblo, Colorado was at her mother’s house and spoke to Elizabeth

by phone while Ms. Guerrero was in the JCHA office.

24. During this telephone call, Ms. Estrada spoke to Maggie Logan.  Ms. Estrada

asked Ms. Logan if someone from JCHA could help Ms. Guerrero fill out the paperwork.  Ms.

Logan informed Ms. Estrada that Ms. Logan would not help because she has “over 300 cases.”

25. Ms. Logan told Ms. Estrada that Ms. Guerrero needed to write a letter and request

a hearing.

26. In the early morning of June 27, 2009, Ms. Estrada prepared a letter for Ms.

Guerrero to send to JCHA and Maggie Logan, requesting a hearing.  Ms. Estrada mailed the

letter to JCHA and Maggie Logan on June 27, 2009 in the morning.  This letter identified

Isabelle Shaneff as Ms. Guerrero’s power of attorney and requested that JCFA and Ms. Logan

contact Ms. Shaneff with any questions.  On information and belief, JCHA received this letter on

June 29, 2009.
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27. JCHA and Ms. Logan sent a letter to Ms. Guerrero on July 1, 2009, scheduling a

hearing on July 9, 2009 with Independent Hearing Officer Michaela DeLuca and sent a copy to

Ms. Shaneff.

28. Ms. Shaneff was not able to attend the hearing because of her illness.

29. Ms. Guerrero’s sister, Vera Estrada, and her daughter, Lanette Estrada, came to

Denver on July 8 to assist Ms. Guerrero with the paperwork and to accompany Ms. Guerrero to

the hearing on July 9, 2009.

30. On July 8, 2009, Ms. Estrada, her daughter and Ms. Guerrero filled out the

paperwork to the best of their abilities, collected receipts and information requested and brought

them to the hearing on July 9, 2009.  

31. On information and belief, Ms. Guerrero signed all documents requiring a

signature on the re-certification paperwork.

32. Ms. Guerrero and Ms. Estrada attended the hearing with Hearing Officer DeLuca

and JCHA Housing Specialist Maggie Logan on July 9, 2009.

33. During the hearing, Maggie Logan requested termination of Ms. Guerrero’s

Section 8 housing assistance voucher.

34. Vera Estrada explained to hearing officer DeLuca and Maggie Logan that Ms.

Guerrero has a disability that interferes with her ability to respond to paperwork requests, that

their mother, Isabelle Shaneff, had assisted Ms. Guerrero in the past but was now ill and could

not provide assistance, and that Ms. Estrada only recently learned about the JCHA’s requests for

re-certification paperwork and apologized for not acting sooner.
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35. Ms. Estrada and Ms. Guerrero submitted the re-certification paperwork.  The

paperwork did not have a statement from Ms. Guerrero’s doctor, which Ms. Estrada explained

she could not get right away because Ms. Guerrero’s doctor was located in Colorado Springs,

Colorado.  Ms. Estrada explained that she had collected all financial information from Ms.

Guerrero’s 2009 documents.  Ms. Estrada understood from hearing officer DeLuca and Maggie

Logan that the paperwork she submitted was sufficient.

36. During the hearing, neither hearing officer DeLuca nor Maggie Logan indicated

there was paperwork missing or that what was submitted was incomplete.

37. Hearing officer DeLuca concluded the hearing stating that she would provide a

written determination within ten days.

38. Maggie Logan told Ms. Estrada and Ms. Guerrero that they would need to have a

power of attorney document signed assigning Ms. Estrada as Ms. Guerrero’s power of attorney.

39. When Ms. Estrada and Ms. Guerrero left the hearing, they had the power of

attorney documentation prepared immediately and returned it to JCHA.  The document provides

Vera Estrada with a limited power of attorney to address “housing transactions.”

40. Ms. Estrada and Ms. Guerrero did not obtain a copy of the documents submitted

to hearing officer DeLuca and JCHA during the hearing.

41. The day after the hearing, Vera Estrada called and left a message with Maggie

Logan requesting a copy of the paperwork submitted during the hearing.

42. Maggie Logan never returned Vera Estrada’s July 10, 2009 call and did not send

Ms. Estrada copies of the documents submitted during the hearing.
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43. Hearing officer DeLuca issued a written determination dated July 15, 2009

terminating Ms. Guerrero’s Section 8 housing rental assistance voucher stating that Ms. Estrada

did submit the housing packet required for re-certification; however, hearing officer DeLuca

stated the paperwork was incomplete, unsigned and did not provide appropriate verification of

income.

44. On July 23, 2009, the undersigned faxed and mailed, by certified mail, a letter to

JCHA, Maggie Logan and Betty Krieger explaining the facts recited above regarding Ms.

Guerrero’s disability and that her mother was not able to assist her and requesting that, under

these circumstances, Defendants provide a reasonable accommodation for Ms. Guerrero’s

disability.  The letter requested the following:

1. An extension of time to submit all necessary re-certification documents
long enough to obtain and provide the documents.

2. Reinstatement of Ms. Guerrero’s housing voucher and immediate
continuation of housing assistance for her current residence.

3. A specific list of what documents you believe Ms. Guerrero did not
provide at the July 9 hearing.

45. The undersigned’s July 23, 2009 letter made clear that the undersigned was “only

requesting enough time to find out what documents are needed and to work with my client to

provide those documents.”  

46. The July 23 letter requested a response on or before June 30, 2009.

47. The undersigned received a faxed note from Maggie Logan dated July 24, 2009

stating she had received the undersigned’s July 23 letter but could not respond because JCHA’s
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executive director, Betty Krieger, and Section 8 supervisor were out of the office and needed to

make a decision.  Ms. Logan’s letter did not indicate when a response might be provided.

48. On July 27, 2009, the undersigned faxed another letter to Maggie Logan stating

that additional time beyond June 30, 2009 was acceptable if JCHA agreed to paying Morning

Side the rental assistance payment for the month of August 2009.

49. The undersigned did not receive a response to the July 27 letter.

50. The undersigned sent JCHA a Colorado Open Records Act (“CORA”) request on

July 24, 2009, requesting all documents in Ms. Guerrero’s tenant file.

51. JCHA has not responded to the July 24, 2009 CORA request.

52. The “Model Lease for Housing Choice Voucher Program” signed by Ms.

Guerrero and Morning Side manager, Delores Lowery, states that if JCHA terminates program

assistance, the lease expires automatically.

53. On August 3, 2009, Isabelle Shaneff called the manager of Morning Side to find

out what rent payment Ms. Guerrero would be charged for the month of August.  The apartment

manager informed Ms. Shaneff that Ms. Guerrero was required to pay $925.00, the market rate

for this apartment.

54. On August 3, 2009, Ms. Guerrero paid $925.00, the market rate for her apartment

for the month of August, 2009.  She will not be able to afford to do so in the future.

55. Ms. Guerrero has a fixed monthly income of $1,199.00 per month.
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56. On information and belief, with the housing assistance payment that JCHA was

making for Ms. Guerrero, her portion of the rent prior to August of 2009 approximately $295.00

each month.

57. Ms. Guerrero’s lease was set to expire August 31, 2009 prior to the termination

by JCHA of Ms. Guerrero’s housing assistance.

58. Ms. Guerrero currently resides in a two bedroom apartment obtained because she

was trying to find a live-in assistant to help her manage her affairs.  Ms. Guerrero was unable to

do so and now seeks a one bedroom apartment.

59. Ms. Guerrero has requested that Morning Side manager provide a one bedroom

apartment for her to lease.

60. Morning Side’s manager informed Ms. Guerrero that no one bedroom apartments

are available.

61. Ms. Guerrero is looking for another apartment, but, until Defendants answer her

request for accommodation, she does not know whether she can rent an apartment with Section 8

housing assistance.  She would stay at Morning Side if a one bedroom unit was available.

62. JCHA’s termination of Ms. Guerrero’s Section 8 housing assistance has had a

significant financial and emotional impact on Ms. Guerrero.

63. Ms. Guerrero has been damaged by Defendants’ conduct financially and

emotionally.
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64. Ms. Guerrero, with the assistance of family members and, at this time,

undersigned counsel, is prepared to provide whatever documentation Defendants believe was

missing from her re-certification paperwork.

65. Ms. Guerrero continues to be harmed by Defendants’ refusal to grant or even to

respond to her request for accommodation.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq. against all Defendants)

66. Plaintiff incorporates all other allegations in this complaint herein.

67. It is unlawful under the FHA “to refuse to make reasonable accommodations in

rules, policies, practices, or services, when such accommodations may be necessary to afford a

handicapped person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling unit.”

68. Defendants were aware of Ms. Guerrero’s disability.

69. Defendants have refused to provide a reasonable accommodation to Ms. Guerrero

necessary to afford her an opportunity to use and enjoy her current apartment.

70. Defendants failed to assist Ms. Guerrero in completing her paperwork for her re-

certification.

71. Defendants failed to provide Ms. Guerrero with a reasonable accommodation to

allow her to continue receiving Section 8 rental housing assistance.

72. By terminating Ms. Guerrero’s housing assistance and the requested

accommodation, Defendants have caused Ms. Guerrero may be unable to afford housing in the

future.
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73. Ms. Guerrero has been damaged and will continue to be damaged by Defendants’

actions.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act against Defendant JCHA only)

74. Plaintiff incorporates all other allegations in this complaint herein.

75. It is unlawful under Section 504 for any recipient of federal financial assistance to

refuse to provide a reasonable accommodation to a qualified individual with a disability in the

provision and administration of its programs, services and activities.  29 U.S.C. § 794.

76. JCHA receives federal financial assistance as defined in 29 U.S.C. § 794 and its

implementing regulations.

77. With reasonable accommodation for her disability, Ms. Guerrero is qualified to

receive Section 8 housing assistance from JCHA.

78. JCHA failed to provide reasonable accommodations to Ms. Guerrero as set forth

in this Complaint.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiff respectfully prays:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction.

2. That this Court find defendants’ actions to be in violation of the FHA and Section

504.

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering defendants to comply with the FHA

and Section 504 by granting the requested accommodation.
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4. That this Court award damages to plaintiff.

5. That this Court award reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.

JURY DEMAND: Plaintiffs demand a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury.
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Dated: August 7, 2009 Respectfully submitted,

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION
LEGAL PROGRAM

 /s Kevin W. Williams                     
Kevin W. Williams
Carrie Ann Lucas
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
Voice: 303.839.1775
TTY: 303.839.0015
Facsimile: 303.839.1782
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org
E-mail: clucas@ccdconline.org

Address of Plaintiff Elizabeth Guerrero:

3650 Vance Street, # 209
Wheat Ridge CO 80033
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